UNITED STATES ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY PERMIT

FOR CORRECTIVE ACTION AND WASTE MINIMIZATION; PURSUANT TO THE RESOURCE CONSERVATION AND RECOVERY ACT AS AMENDED BY THE HAZARDOUS AND SOLID WASTE AMENDMENTS OF 1984

Permittee:

Alliant Techsystems, Inc. Ammunition and Powder Company LLC and

the United States Department of the Army

Permit Number:

VA1210020730

Facility:

Radford Army Ammunition Plant

Radford, Virginia

This permit is issued by the United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) under the authority of the Solid Waste Disposal Act as amended by the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976 (RCRA) and the Hazardous and Solid Waste Amendments of 1984 (HSWA), 42 U.S.C. § 6901 et seq., and EPA regulations at 40 C.F.R. Parts 260-271 and Part 124, to Alliant Techsystems, Inc. Ammunition and Powder Company LLC as the operator, and to the United States Department of the Army, as the owner (together known as the Permittee) to meet the requirements of HSWA at the Permittee's facility, the Radford Army Ammunition Plant (Radford AAP), in Radford, Virginia at latitude 37° 11' 45" North and longitude 80° 30' 30" West (the Facility).

The complete RCRA permit for purposes of Section 3005(c) of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. §6925(c), consists of two portions: this permit, issued by EPA, which addresses the provisions of HSWA, and the permit issued by the Virginia Department of Environmental Quality (VDEQ) on September 14, 1994, which addresses the provisions of the Code of Virginia Regulations, Chapter 14, Article 4, Title 10.1, for which the Commonwealth of Virginia (Commonwealth) has received authorization under Section 3006(b) of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6926(b), to carry out such program in lieu of the federal hazardous waste management program under RCRA. As of the date of issuance of this permit, the Commonwealth has not received authorization to administer the provisions of HSWA. This permit, which addresses provisions of HSWA, will be enforced by EPA. The VDEQ permit will be enforced by VDEQ, but EPA may also exercise its enforcement discretion if and when appropriate.

The Permittee must comply with all terms and conditions of this permit. This permit consists of the conditions contained herein (Parts I and II and Attachments A through GF) and the applicable regulations contained in 40 C.F.R. Parts 124, 260 through 264, 268 and 270 as specified in the permit or which are, by statute, self-implementing. (40 C.F.R. § 270.32(c)).

This permit is based on information provided to EPA by the Permittee and VDEQ. Section 3005(c)(3) of RCRA provides EPA the authority to review and amend the permit at any time. Any inaccuracies found in the information submitted by the Permittee may be grounds for

Style Definition: TOC 1: Font: Bold, Space Before: 6 pt, After: 6 pt, Tabs: 6.49", Right, Leader: ...

Style Definition: TOC 2: Indent: Left: 0.5", Hanging: 0.5", Space Before: 6 pt, After: 6 pt, Tabs: 1", Left + 6.49", Right, Leader: ...

Style Definition: TOC 3: Indent: Left: 1", Tabs: 6.49", Right, Leader:

the termination, modification or revocation and reissuance of this permit (see 40 C.F.R. §§ 270.41, 270.42 and 270.43). The Permittee must inform EPA of any deviation from or changes in the submitted information which would affect the Permittee's ability to comply with the applicable statutes, regulations or permit conditions.

This permit is effective on October 31, 20002010, and shall remain in effect until October 31, 20102020, unless revoked and reissued, modified or terminated in accordance with 40 C.F.R. §8270.41, 270.42, 270.43 or continued in accordance with 40 C.F.R. §270.51(a).

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART I - S	STANDARD CONDITIONS	5
A.	DEFINITIONS	5
Ъ.	STANDARD DUTIES AND REQUIREMENTS	7
C.	DISPUTE RESOLUTION	12
D.	EFFECT OF PERMIT	13
E.	PERMIT MODIFICATION, REVOCATION AND REISSUANCE	13
F.	PERMIT EXPIRATION AND CONTINUANCE	14
G.	TRANSFER OF PERMIT	14
Н.	SEVERABILITY	15
PART II – S	SPECIFIC FACILITY CONDITIONS	16
Α.	STATEMENT OF PURPOSE	16
В.	RCRA-CERCLA INTEGRATION	16
C.	CORRECTIVE ACTION FOR CONTINUING RELEASES; PROTECTION OF HUMAN HEALTH AND THE ENVIRONMENT	16
D.	WORK TO BE PERFORMED	18
	Site Screening Areas	20 21 25 25 26
E.	CONSULTATION	
	Review and Comment Process for Draft and Final Documents	
F.	EXTENSIONS	.32
G.	DEADLINES AND CONTENTS OF THE INSTALLATION ACTION PLAN	.33

н.	BUDGET DEVELOPMENT AND AMENDMENT OF INSTALLATACTION PLAN			
	Facility-Specific Budget Building Radford FAAP Budget for Clean Up Activities Amended IAP Bosolving Appropriations Shoutfulls	36		
	Resolving Appropriations Shortfalls Public Participation	37		
I.	FUNDING	38		
J.	EMERGENCY RESPONSE; RELEASE REPORTING	39		
K.	GUIDANCE DOCUMENTS	40		
L.	SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT UNIT (SWMU) ASSESSMENT	41		
M.	RECORDKEEPING	43		
N.	ACCESS FOR CORRECTIVE ACTION OVERSIGHT	43		
PART I STANDARD CONDITIONS				
A. —	Definitions	-(1)		
B.——	Standard Duties and Requirements	-(3)		
C.	Dispute Resolution	-(8)		
Đ	Effect of Permit	-(8)		
E.	Permit Modification, Revocation and Reissuance	-(8)		
F	Permit Expiration and Continuance	-(9)		
G	Transfer of Permit	-(10)		
11.	Severability	(10)		
PART II SI	PECIFIC FACILITY CONDITIONS			
A	Statement of Purpose	-(11)		
<u>B</u>	RCRA-CERCLA Integration	-(11)		
C.Corr	rective Action for Continuing Releases; Protection	Formatted: Bullets and Numbering		

	of Human Health and the Environment	
–D.–	Work to be Performed	
	Site Screening Area	
	RFI and CMS	
	Procedures for Interim Measures	
	Statement of Basis and Corrective Measures Implementation	
	Corrective Measures Design and Corrective Measures Action	
	Finalization of Corrective Measures Action	~~~
	Construction Completion/SWMU or AOC Completion/ Corrective Measures Completion	
<u>E.</u>	Consultation	
<u>E.</u>	Consultation Review and Comment Process for Draft and Final Documents	
	Review and Comment Process for Draft and	(
F.	Review and Comment Process for Draft and Final Documents	(
G.—	Review and Comment Process for Draft and Final Documents Extensions	(
Г. — G. — Н.	Review and Comment Process for Draft and Final-Documents Extensions Deadlines and Contents of the Installation Action Plan Budget Development and Amendment of Installation	((
G.—	Review and Comment Process for Draft and Final Documents Extensions Deadlines and Contents of the Installation Action Plan Budget Development and Amendment of Installation Action Plan	((
G.	Review and Comment Process for Draft and Final Documents Extensions Deadlines and Contents of the Installation Action Plan Budget Development and Amendment of Installation Action Plan Facility Specific Budget Building Radford Army Ammunition Plant Budget for	((
G.—	Review and Comment Process for Draft and Final Documents Extensions Deadlines and Contents of the Installation Action Plan Budget Development and Amendment of Installation Action Plan Action Plan Facility Specific Budget Building Radford Army Ammunition Plant Budget for Clean up Activities	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Г. — G. — Н.	Review and Comment Process for Draft and Final Documents Extensions Deadlines and Contents of the Installation Action Plan Budget Development and Amendment of Installation Action Plan Action Plan Facility Specific Budget Building Radford Army Ammunition Plant Budget for Clean up Activities Amended IAP	(:

J. Emergency Response; Release Reporting	(33)
K. Guidance Documents	(34)
L. Solid Waste Management Unit (SWMU) Assessment	(35)
M. Recordkeeping	(36)
N. Access for Corrective Action Oversight	(36)

Formatted: Centered

LIST OF ATTACHMENTS

Attachment A	List of SWMUs and AOCs
Attachment B	Hazardous Constituent Sampling List and Risk Based Concentration Sereening Site Screening Process Guidance
Attachment C	RCRA Facility Investigation and Reporting Scope of Work
Attachment D	Corrective Measures Study Scope of Work
Attachment E	Interim Measures Scope of Work
Attachment F	List of Previously Submitted Deliverable Documents
Attachment G	SSP Guidance
Attachment H	Installation Action Plan for Radford Army Ammunition Plant

PART I - STANDARD CONDITIONS

A. DEFINITIONS

For the purposes of this permit, terms used herein shall have the same meaning as those set forth in 40 C.F.R. Parts 260 through 264, 268 and 270, unless this permit specifically states otherwise. Where terms are not otherwise defined, the meaning associated with such terms shall be as defined by a standard dictionary reference or the generally accepted scientific or industrial meaning of the terms. The following definitions also apply to this permit.

- 1. Area of Concern pursuant to the authority granted by Section 3005(c)(3) of RCRA, 40 C.F.R. § 270.32(b)(2), an area of concern is hereby defined for purposes of this permit to mean an area at the facility or an off-site area, which is not at this time known to be a solid waste management unit, where hazardous waste and/or hazardous constituents are present or are suspected to be present as a result of a release from the facility.
- 2. Days except as otherwise provided herein, calendar days. If any requirement under the terms of this permit would fall on a Saturday, Sunday or federal holiday, then the requirements shall be due on the following day.
- 3. Deadlines shall mean the Near Term Milestones specifically established for the current fiscal year under the Installation Action Plan.
- 4. Facility for the purpose of implementing corrective action under 40 C.F.R § 264.101, all contiguous property under the control of the owner or operator seeking a permit under Subtitle C of RCRA. (40 C.F.R. § 260.10)
- 5. Fiscal year shall mean the time period used by the United States Government for budget management and commences on October 1 and ends September 30th of the immediate following calendar year.
- 6. Hazardous Constituent any constituent identified in Appendix VIII of 40 C.F.R. Part 261.
- 7. Installation Action Plan shall mean a planning document, submitted prepared specifically under permit condition II.G that contains a timetable, plan, or schedule which indicates the time and sequence of events. The Installation Action Plan will be used as a management tool in planning, reviewing and setting priorities for all response activities at the Facility. Deadlines and Target Dates developed under the terms of this permit are listed in the Installation Action Plan. It is a snapshot in time of the ongoing planning, programming, budgeting and scheduling process that occurs within the Department of the Army.

- 8. Milestones shall mean the dates established by the Parties in the Installation Action Plan for the initiation or completion of Primary Actions and the submission of Deliverable Documents and Project End Dates. Milestones shall include Near Term Milestones, Out Year Milestones, Primary Actions, and Project End Dates.
- 9. Near Term Milestones shall mean the Milestones within the current fiscal year (FY), the next fiscal year or "budget year" (FY+1), and the year for which the budget is being developed or "planning year" (FY+2).
- 10. Out Year Milestones shall mean the Milestones within those years occurring after the planning year until the completion of the cleanup or phase of the cleanup (FY+3 through Project End Date).
- 11. Parties shall mean EPA and the Permittee.
- 12. Permittee shall mean Alliant Techsystems, Inc. Ammunition and Powder Company LLC as the operator and the United States Department of the Army as the owner.
- 13. Primary Actions as used in this permit shall mean those specified major, discrete actions that the Parties identify as such in the Installation Action Plan. The Parties should identify all major, discrete actions for which there is sufficient information to be confident that the date for taking such action is implementable.
- 14. Project End Dates shall mean the dates established by the Parties in the Installation Action Plan for the completion of major portions of the cleanup or completion of the cleanup of the Facility. The Parties recognize that, in many cases, a higher degree of flexibility is appropriate with Project End Dates due to uncertainties associated with establishing such dates.
- 15. Regional Administrator Regional Administrator of the United States Environmental Protection Agency, Region III, his designee or authorized representative.
- 16. Relative Risk Process shall mean a methodology used to evaluate the relative risk posed by a site in relation to other sites when applicable. The Relative Risk Process is used at active Army installations for the Army's Environmental Restoration Program prioritization pursuant to DOD directions. The Relative Risk Process Guidance (1997) groups sites into high, medium, and low categories contingent upon site information. The Relative Risk Process helps to determine the general sequence in which Army sites will be addressed and assists in establishing funding priority.
- 17. Release any spilling, leaking, pumping, pouring, emitting, emptying,

discharging, injecting, escaping, leaching, dumping, or disposing into the environment.

- 18. Site as used in this Permit shall mean the Facility and any contamination beyond the Facility boundary within the meaning of section 3004(v) of RCRA.
- 19. Solid Waste Management Unit any discernible unit at which solid wastes have been placed at any time, irrespective of whether the unit was intended for the management of solid or hazardous waste. Such units include any area at a facility at which solid wastes have been routinely and systematically released.
- 20. Target Dates shall mean dates established for the completion and transmission of a preliminary/conceptual Corrective Measures Design document, a thirty (30) percent design report and a ninety (90) percent or prefinal Corrective Measures Design. Target Dates are not subject to dispute resolution and they are not Milestones.

B. STANDARD DUTIES AND REQUIREMENTS

1. Duty to Comply

- a. The Permittee shall comply with all conditions of this permit, except to the extent and for the duration such noncompliance is authorized by an emergency permit issued under 40 C.F.R. § 270.61 or the analogous provisions of the Commonwealth's authorized hazardous waste management regulations. Any other permit noncompliance constitutes a violation of RCRA and is grounds for enforcement action; permit termination, revocation and reissuance, or modification, or for denial of a permit renewal application. (40 C.F.R § 270.30(a))
- b. It shall not be a defense for the Permittee in an enforcement action that it would have been necessary to halt or reduce the permitted activity in order to maintain compliance with the conditions of this permit. (40 C.F.R § 270.30(c))

2. Duty to Mitigate

In the event of noncompliance with this permit, the Permittee shall take all reasonable steps to minimize releases to the environment and shall carry out such measures as are reasonable to prevent significant adverse impacts on human health or the environment (40 C.F.R. § 270.30(d))

3. Duty to Properly Operate and Maintain

The Permittee shall at all times properly operate and maintain all facilities and systems of treatment and control (and related appurtenances) which are installed

or used by the Permittee to achieve compliance with the conditions of this permit. Proper operation and maintenance includes effective performance, adequate funding, adequate operator staffing and training, and adequate laboratory and process controls, including appropriate quality assurance procedures. This provision requires the operation of back-up or auxiliary facilities or similar systems only when necessary to achieve compliance with the conditions of the permit. (40 C.F.R § 270.30(e))

4. Duty to Monitor and Record Results

Pursuant to 40 C.F.R § 270.30(j), the Permittee shall comply with the following requirements:

- a. Samples and measurements taken for the purpose of monitoring shall be representative of the monitored activity. All sampling and analyses shall be of adequate quality, scientifically valid, of known precision and accuracy, and of acceptable completeness, representativeness and comparability. Laboratory analysis of each sample must be performed using an appropriate method for testing the parameter(s) of interest taking into account the sample matrix. The test methods found in the EPA publication Test Methods for Evaluating Solid Waste. Physical/Chemical Methods (SW-846), 3rd Edition, as updated, shall be used for: The Toxicity Characteristic analytes (40 C.F.R. § 261.24); the Free Liquids Test (Method 9095) used to determine if free liquid is a component of a waste as a specific requirement for bulk and containerized wastes (40 C.F.R. § 264.314(c)); and the chemical analysis of wastes for hazardous waste incineration permits (40 C.F.R § 270.62(b)(2)(i)(C)).
- b. The Permittee shall retain records of all monitoring information, including all calibration and maintenance records and all original strip chart recordings for continuous monitoring instrumentation, copies of all reports and records required by this permit, the certification required by 40 C.F.R. § 264. 73(b)(9) and records of all data used to complete the application for this permit for a period of at least three (3) years from the date of the sample, measurement, report, certification or application. These periods may be extended by request of the Regional Administrator at any time and are automatically extended during the course of any unresolved enforcement action regarding this facility. (40 C.F.R. § 264.74) The Permittee shall maintain records from all groundwater monitoring wells and associated groundwater surface elevations for the active life of the Facility, and for disposal facilities, for the post-closure care period as well. (40 C.F.R § 270.309(j))
- c. Records of monitoring information shall specify:

- (1) The date, exact place, and time of sampling or measurements:
- (2) The individual(s) who performed the sampling or measurements;
- (3) The date(s) analyses were performed;
- (4) The individual(s) who performed the analyses;
- (5) The analytical techniques or methods used; and
- (6) The results of such analyses.

5. Duty to Provide Information

The Permittee shall furnish, within a reasonable specified time, any relevant information which the Regional Administrator may request to determine whether cause exists for modifying, revoking and reissuing, or terminating this permit, or to determine compliance with this permit. The Permittee shall also furnish to the Regional Administrator upon request, copies of records required to be kept by this permit. (40 C.F.R. §§ 270.30(h) and 264.74(a))

6. Duty to Allow Inspection and Entry

Pursuant to 40 C.F.R. § 270.30(i), the Permittee shall allow the Regional Administrator, or an authorized representative, upon the presentation of credentials and other documents as may be required by law, to:

- a. Enter at reasonable times upon the Permittee's premises where a regulated facility or activity is located or conducted, or where records must be kept under the conditions of this permit;
- b. Have access to and copy, at reasonable times, any records that must be kept under the conditions of this permit;
- c. Inspect at reasonable times any facilities, equipment (including monitoring and control equipment), practices, or operations regulated or required under this permit; and
- d. Sample or monitor, at reasonable times, for the purpose of assuring permit compliance or as otherwise authorized by RCRA, any substances or parameters at any location.

7. Project Coordinators

a. EPA hereby designates Robert G. Thomson William Geiger as the EPA

Project Coordinator. Within ten (10) calendar days of the effective date of this permit, the Permittee shall notify EPA, in writing, of the Project Coordinator it has selected. Each Project Coordinator shall be responsible for overseeing the implementation of the permit. The EPA Project Coordinator will be EPA's primary designated representative for the Facility. To the maximum extent possible, all communications between the Army, Alliant and EPA, and all documents, reports, approvals, and other correspondence concerning the activities performed pursuant to the terms and conditions of this permit, shall be directed through the Project Coordinators.

- b. Each Party agrees to provide at least seven (7) calendar days written notice to the other Party prior to changing Project Coordinators.
- c. The absence of the EPA Project Coordinator at the Facility shall not be cause for the delay or stoppage of work.
- 8. Duty to Submit Certified Documents
 - a. At least 6-3 hard copies of draft documents and 3-1 eopies hardcopy and 1 digital copy of all final plans, reports, notifications or other documents which are required by this permit to be submitted to the Regional Administrator or EPA, shall be sent Certified Mail, Return Receipt Requested, overnight mail, or hand-carried to:

Federal Facilities BranchRCRA General Operations (3HS133WC23)

EPA Region III

1650 Arch Street

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19103

215-814-3357

b. Each report, notification or other submission shall reference the Permittee's name, permit number and Facility address. In addition, one copy of such submission shall be sent to both:

Commonwealth of Virginia
Department of Environmental Quality
Waste Division
P.O. Box 10009629 East Main Street
Richmond, Virginia 2324023219-2429
P.O. Box 1105, Richmond, VA 23218
(804)804-698-41554000

Formatted: French (France)

and

Commonwealth of Virginia
Department of Environmental Quality
West Central Regional Office
Waste Division
Executive Office Park, Suite D
53383019 Peters Creek Road
Roanoke, Virginia 24019-2738

- c. All reports or other information submitted to the Regional Administrator or EPA shall be signed and certified as required by 40 C.F.R. §§ 270.11 and 270.30(k).
- 9. Duty to Maintain Documents at the Facility
 - a. Pursuant to 40 C.F.R. § 264.73, the Permittee shall maintain at the Facility (or other location approved by the Regional Administrator) during the term of this permit, including any reissued permit, all documents and raw data, such as laboratory reports, drilling logs, and other supporting information generated from investigations required by this permit including amendments, revisions and modifications to these documents.

10. Duty to Minimize Waste

The Permittee shall certify no less often than annually that the Permittee has a program in place to reduce the volume and toxicity of hazardous waste that the Permittee generates to the degree determined by the Permittee to be economically practicable; and the proposed method of treatment, storage or disposal is the practicable method currently available to the Permittee which minimizes the present and future threat to human health and the environment. The Permittee shall maintain each such certification of waste minimization at the Facility until closure of such Facility. (40 C.F.R. §264.73(b)(9))

11. Duty to Comply with the Land Disposal Restrictions

All activities of the Permittee which involve the land disposal of hazardous waste are subject to the provisions of RCRA Section 3004(b)-(m), 42 U.S.C. § 6924(b)-(m), and applicable regulations there under at 40 C.F.R. Part 268.

- 12. Reporting Requirements
 - a. Failure to Submit Relevant and/or Accurate Information

Whenever the Permittee becomes aware that it failed to submit any relevant facts in the permit application, or submitted incorrect information

in a permit application or in any report to the Regional Administrator, the Permittee shall notify the Regional Administrator of such failure within seven (7) days of becoming aware of such deficiency or inaccuracy. The Permittee shall submit the correct or additional information to the Regional Administrator within fourteen (14) days of becoming aware of the deficiency or inaccuracy. (40 C.F.R § 270.30(1)(11)) Failure to submit the information required in this permit or misrepresentation of any submitted information is grounds for termination of this permit. (40 C.F.R § 270.43)

b. Noncompliance with Schedules for Interim and Final Requirements

Reports of compliance or noncompliance with, or any progress reports on, interim and final requirements contained in any compliance schedule of this permit shall be submitted no later than fourteen (14) days following each schedule date. (40 C.F.R. § 270.30(1)(5))

c. Other Noncompliance

The Permittee shall report all other instances of noncompliance not otherwise required to be reported above, at the time monitoring reports are submitted. The reports shall contain the information listed in 40 C.F.R § 270.30(1)(10).

13. Duty to Comply with RCRA Organic Air Emission Standards

The Permittee shall comply with all requirements specified in 40 C.F.R. Part 264, Subparts AA and BB, as applicable, including all reporting, air monitoring and maintenance requirements.

C. DISPUTE RESOLUTION

Except as otherwise provided in this permit in the event the Permittee disagrees, in whole or in part, with EPA disapproval of any submission required by this permit, the Permittee shall notify EPA in writing of its objections, and the basis therefore, within twenty-one (21) days of receipt of EPA's disapproval.

Such notice shall set forth the specific matters in dispute, the basis for the Permittee's belief that its position is consistent with the permit requirements, and any supporting documentation.

EPA and the Permittee shall have an additional twenty-one (21) days from EPA receipt of the notification to meet or confer to resolve any dispute. In the event agreement is reached, the Permittee shall submit the revised submission and implement the same in accordance with such agreement.

In the event EPA and the Permittee are not able to reach agreement within this twenty-one (21)-day period, the Permittee shall have the opportunity to submit written comments regarding EPA's disapproval, and receive a written decision from the EPA Regional Administrator or his delegatee (e.g., the Division Director or the Office Director) regarding the Permittee's objection. EPA will notify the Permittee in writing of its decision and the Permittee shall comply with the terms and conditions of EPA's decision. The Permittee does not waive its right to assert any and all available defenses in a proceeding to enforce this permit, nor does it waive any statutory or regulatory rights it may have, if any, to affirmatively challenge EPA's decision in the dispute.

D. EFFECT OF PERMIT

- 1. This permit authorizes only the management of hazardous waste expressly described in this permit and does not authorize any other management of hazardous waste.
- 2. Issuance of this permit does not convey property rights of any sort or any exclusive privilege, nor does it authorize any injury to persons or property, or invasion of other private rights, or any infringement of Commonwealth or local laws or regulations. (40 C.F.R. §§ 270.30(g) and 270.4(b) and (c)) Compliance with the full permit during its term constitutes compliance with Subtitle C of RCRA, except for those requirements not included in the permit which become effective by statute or which are promulgated under 40 C.F.R. Part 268. (40 C.F.R. § 270.4(a)) However, compliance with the terms of this permit does not constitute a defense to any action brought under Section 7003 of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6973, Section 106(a) of the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980, as amended 42 U.S.C. §9606(a) (commonly known as Superfund), or any other law governing protection of public health or welfare or the environment.
- 3. Nothing contained herein shall in any way be deemed to waive the Permittee's obligation to comply with 40 C.F.R. Part 270, Subpart C, and applicable regulations set forth at 40 C.F.R. Part 124.

E. PERMIT MODIFICATION, REVOCATION AND REISSUANCE

1. This permit may be modified, revoked and reissued, or terminated for cause. The filing of a request for a permit modification, revocation and reissuance, or termination or the notification of planned changes or anticipated noncompliance on the part of the Permittee does not stay any permit condition. (40 C.F.R. § 270.30(f)) Review of any application for a permit renewal shall consider improvements in the state of control and measurement technology, as well as changes in applicable regulations and laws. (RCRA Section 3005(c)(3), 42 U.S.C. § 6925(c)(3))

- 2. The Regional Administrator will modify the permit in accordance with 40 C.F.R. § 270.41 and Section 3005(c) of RCRA in the event that investigations required in this permit, or any other information available to the Regional Administrator, identify solid waste management units that require corrective measures. This paragraph does not limit the Regional Administrator's authority to otherwise modify this permit in accordance with 40 C.F.R Part 270, Subpart D.
- 3. This permit may be modified if the Regional Administrator determines good cause exists for modification, such as an act of God, strike, flood, materials shortage or other events over which the Permittee has little or no control and for which there is no reasonably available remedy. (40 C.F.R. § 270.41)

F. PERMIT EXPIRATION AND CONTINUANCE

- 1. Pursuant to 40, C.F.R. § 270.50, this permit shall be effective for a fixed term not to exceed ten years. Pursuant to 40 C.F.R. § 270.51, this permit and all conditions herein will remain in effect beyond the permit's expiration date if the Permittee has submitted a timely and complete application for a new permit (see 40 C.F.R. §§ 270.10 and 270:14 270.29) and, through no fault of the Permittee, the Director has not issued a new permit under 40 C.F.R. § 124.15 on or before the expiration date of this permit. In addition, each permit for a land disposal facility shall be reviewed by the Regional Administrator five years after the date of permit issuance or reissuance and shall be modified as necessary, as provided in 40 C.F.R. § 270.41. (40 C.F.R. § 270.50(d))
- 2. If the Permittee wishes to continue an activity regulated by this permit after the expiration date of this permit, the Permittee must submit a complete application for a new permit at least 180 days before this permit expires, unless permission for a later date has been granted by the Regional Administrator. (40 C.F.R. §§ 270.10(h) and 270.30(b))
- 3. The corrective action obligations contained in this permit shall continue regardless of whether the Permittee continues to operate or ceases operation and closes the Facility. The Permittee is obligated to complete Facility-wide corrective action under the conditions of a RCRA permit regardless of the operational status of the Facility. The Permittee must submit an application for a new permit at least 180 days before this permit expires pursuant to 40 C.F.R. § 270.10(h), unless the permit has been modified to terminate the corrective action schedule of compliance and the Permittee has been released from the requirements for financial assurance for corrective action.

G. TRANSFER OF PERMIT

1. This permit is not transferable to any person, except after notice to the Regional Administrator. (40 C.F.R. § 270.30(1)(3) A permit may be transferred by the

Permittee to a new owner or operator only if the permit has ,been modified or revoked and reissued under 40 C.F.R. § 270.40(b) or 270.42(b)(2) to identify the new permittee and incorporate such other requirements as may be necessary under the appropriate Act. (40 C.F.R. § 270.40)

2. Before transferring ownership or operation of the Facility during its operating life, the Permittee transferring its interest in the Facility shall notify the new owner or operator in writing of the requirements of 40 C.F.R. Parts 264 and 270. (40 C.F.R. § 264.12(c))

H. SEVERABILITY

The provisions of this permit are severable, and if any provision of this permit or the application of any provision of this permit to any circumstance is held invalid, the application of such provision to other circumstances and the remainder of this permit shall not be affected thereby. (40 C.F.R. § 124.16(a)(2))

PART II - SPECIFIC FACILITY CONDITIONS

A. STATEMENT OF PURPOSE

The mutual objectives of EPA and the Permittee are: (1) the establishment of a procedural framework and schedule for developing, implementing and monitoring appropriate response actions at or from (or both) the Facility; (2) the performance by the Permittee of a RCRA Facility Investigation ("RFI") to determine fully the nature and extent of any release of hazardous wastes, solid wastes and/or hazardous constituents at or from the Facility; (3) the performance by the Permittee of a Corrective Measures Study ("CMS") to identify and evaluate alternatives for corrective action necessary to prevent or mitigate migration or releases of hazardous wastes, solid wastes and/or hazardous constituents at and/or from the Facility; and (4) the performance by the Permittee of the Corrective Measures as selected by EPA.

B. RCRA-CERCLA INTEGRATION

EPA and the Permittee intend to integrate the Army's Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act (CERCLA) response obligations and RCRA corrective action obligations which relate to the release(s) of hazardous substances, solid wastes, hazardous constituents, hazardous wastes, pollutants or contaminants at the Facility. Therefore, the Parties intend that activities covered by this permit will achieve compliance with CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. Section 9601 et seq.; satisfy the corrective action requirements of RCRA Section 3004(u) and (v), 42 U.S.C. Section 6924(u) and (v); and meet or exceed all applicable or relevant and appropriate Federal and Commonwealth laws and regulations, to the extent required by CERCLA Section 121, 42 U.S.C. Section 9621, and other applicable laws.

Based upon the foregoing, the EPA and the Army intend that any corrective measures action selected, implemented and completed in accordance with the requirements of this permit, or any modification of this permit, will be protective of human health and the environment such that remediation of releases covered by this permit shall obviate the need for further corrective action under RCRA (i.e., no further corrective action shall be required) as well as further response actions under CERCLA.

C. CORRECTIVE ACTION FOR CONTINUING RELEASES; PROTECTION OF HUMAN HEALTH AND THE ENVIRONMENT

Section 3004(u) of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6924(u), and regulations codified at 40 C.F.R. § 264.101, provide that all permits issued after November 8, 1984 must require corrective action as necessary to protect human health and the environment for all releases of hazardous waste or hazardous constituents from any solid waste management unit (SWMU), regardless of when waste was placed in the unit.

Under Section 3004(v) of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6924(v), EPA may require that corrective

action at a permitted facility be taken beyond the facility boundary where necessary to protect human health and the environment, unless the owner or operator of the facility concerned demonstrates to the satisfaction of EPA that, despite the owner or operator's best efforts, the owner or operator was unable to obtain the necessary permission to undertake such action.

Section 3005(c)(3) of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6925(c)(3), and 40 C.F.R. § 270.32(b) provide that each permit shall contain such terms and conditions as the Administrator determines necessary to protect human health and the environment.

This permit requires the Permittee to conduct a RCRA Facility Investigation (RFI). The RFI will determine the nature and extent of releases of hazardous waste and hazardous constituents from regulated units, solid waste management units, and any other Area of Concern at the Facility and to gather all data necessary for EPA to determine whether a Corrective Measures Study is required. The RFI includes the collection of Site specific data to evaluate any human health and or ecological impacts of contamination from the Facility. If, on the basis of the RFI and any other relevant information, the Regional Administrator determines that a Corrective Measures Study (CMS) is necessary, the Permittee will be required to conduct a Corrective Measures Study for those releases from SWMUs or Areas of Concern (AOCs) which threaten human health or the environment.

The Permittee may have completed some of the tasks required by this permit and may have some of the information and data required by this permit. This previous work may be used to meet the requirements of this permit, upon submission to and approval by the Regional Administrator in accordance with permit conditions I.C (Dispute Resolution) and II.E (Consultation).

The Permittee shall prepare Facility-specific work plans and reports relating to Interim Measures, RCRA Facility Investigation, Corrective Measures Study and any Risk Screening or Risk Assessment in accordance with the relevant attachments. The Permittee shall establish specific and appropriate elements of such scopes and reports to EPA's satisfaction under permit conditions I.C (Dispute Resolution) and II.E (Consultation).

The Permittee may, at any stage of the RFI, if applicable, submit to the Regional Administrator, in writing, a proposal to perform corrective measures for the remediation of any release of hazardous waste or hazardous constituents at or from a SWMU and/or AOC. Any such proposal shall include a schedule for performance of such corrective measures. For any releases to soil, groundwater, sediment and surface water, the Permittee must demonstrate in such proposal, to the Regional Administrator's satisfaction, that the subsurface conditions and contaminant plume relating to such release have been adequately characterized and that the proposed corrective measures will adequately remove, contain, or treat the released hazardous waste or hazardous constituents as necessary to protect human health and the environment. The nature and extent of releases to other media shall likewise be adequately characterized. The Regional

Administrator shall review such proposal and notify the Permittee of his approval or disapproval of such proposal. If the Regional Administrator approves such a proposal, the Permittee shall be allowed to dispense with certain stages of the investigation, as described in the Regional Administrator's approval of the proposal. No term or condition of this permit, except as otherwise provided for by this permit, shall be affected by such proposal until such time as this permit has been modified to include such proposal. The Regional Administrator or Permittee may seek modification of this permit pursuant to 40 C.F.R. § 270.41 or § 270.42 and § 124.5 to include such proposal.

The following Attachments are included as part of this permit:

Attachment A:

List of SWMUs and AOCs

Attachment B:

Hazardous Constituent Sampling List and Risk Based
Concentration ScreeningSite Screening Process Guidance

Attachment C:

RCRA Facility Investigation and Reporting Scope of Work

Attachment D:

Corrective Measures Study Scope of Work

Attachment E:

Interim Measures Scope of Work

Attachment F:

List of Previously Submitted Deliverable Documents

Attachment G:

SSP Guidance

Attachment GH: Installation Action Plan for Radford Army Ammunition Plant

D. WORK TO BE PERFORMED

- 1. The Parties recognize that background information exists and must be reviewed prior to developing the work plans required by this permit. The Army need not halt currently ongoing work but may be obligated to modify or supplement work previously done to meet the requirements of this permit. It is the intent of the Parties to this permit that work done and data generated prior to the effective date of this permit be retained and utilized as elements of the RFI to the maximum extent feasible.
- 2. The Permittee shall develop, implement and report upon the Site-Screening Areas (SSAs) as defined herein, and listed in Attachment A to this permit, in order to satisfy its obligations under RCRA/CERCLA integration. The Site Screening Process (SSP), outlined in permit condition II.D.5-7 of this permit, is intended to provide a simplified investigative method whereby identified areas of concern can be evaluated to determine whether RFIs are required for these areas. Additional SSP investigations may be initiated at areas later identified by the Parties. The SSP investigation(s) shall be conducted in accordance with an EPA-approved SSP

Work Plan.

- 3. SSP Reports(s) shall be subject to the review and comment procedures described in permit condition II.E (Consultation). The SSP investigation(s) shall be conducted in accordance with the requirements set forth in permit condition II.D.5-7, the Deadlines or Milestones established therein and set forth in permit condition II.G (Deadlines and Contents of Installation Action Plan).
- 4. For those SWMUs or AOCs which the Permittee determines to represent a negligible or minimal impact and are strong candidates for no action, or remediation limited to periodic monitoring, the Permittee shall include a schedule in the Installation Action Plan for FY 2000-2001 for submittal of a Site Screening Process Work Plan including a schedule for any limited sampling that may be recommended to support the Site Screening Process. This schedule will be finalized in accordance with permit condition II.H of this permit. The submittal, review, and approval of the Site Screening Process Work Plan as well as the performance of the Site Screening shall follow the procedures outlined in permit condition II.D and II.E. If, based upon the review of the Site Screening Process Report, the EPA determines that further action is not required at identified SWMUs, AOCs, or SSAs the Permittee shall prepare, with EPA assistance, a brief decision document reflecting that agreement. The decision document must be signed by all the Project Coordinators.

Site Screening Areas

- 5. <u>Determination of Site Screening Areas</u> Within seven (7) calender days after a Party to this permit determines that an area on the Site which has not previously been identified as an area which may pose a threat, or potential threat, to public health, welfare, or the environment, may pose such a threat, or potential threat, such Party shall notify in writing the other Party of such determination.

 Notification of the other Party under paragraphs II.D.5-7 shall at a minimum include the location of such area on the Site and the reason(s) the Party believes such an area poses a threat, or potential threat, to public health, welfare, or the environment.
- 6. Any area at the Site which is established as an SSA pursuant to the procedures described in paragraphs II.D.5-7 after the effective date of this permit shall be added to the list of SSAs found in Attachment A as an additional SSA to be investigated and possibly remediated pursuant to the requirements of this permit. For any SSAs established pursuant to paragraphs II.D.5-7 after the effective date of this permit, the Army shall, in the next draft Amended Installation Action Plan, propose Deadlines or Milestones for the submittal of an SSP Work Plans). This Deadline(s) or Milestone(s) shall be approved in accordance with permit condition II.G and adopted in the Installation Action Plan.
- 7. Attachment A contains a list of thirty-one (31) identified Site Screening Areas

(SSAs) which may pose a threat, or potential threat to human health and the environment. The Permittee shall submit to the EPA and the VDEQ SSP Work Plan(s) which shall outline the activities necessary to determine if there have been releases of hazardous substances, solid wastes, pollutants, contaminants, hazardous wastes, or hazardous constituents to the environment from the SSAs. The scope of the SSPs shall be determined by the Parties. The SSP Work Plans) shall include a proposed Deadline or Milestone for the submittal of an SSP Report(s). The schedule and Deadlines or Milestones included in the final SSP Work Plan will be incorporated into the Installation Action Plan in accordance with permit condition II.G (Deadlines and Contents of Installation Action Plan).

- a. In planning SSPs, the Permittee shall consider current CERCLA and RCRA guidance to determine if there have been releases of hazardous substances, pollutants, contaminants, hazardous wastes or hazardous constituents to the environment from the SSAs. Upon conclusion of an SSP, the Permittee shall submit to the EPA and the VDEQ a draft SSP Report which shall provide the basis for a determination that either: (1) a RFI be performed on the area addressed by the SSP or (2) the area does not pose a threat, or potential threat to public health, welfare, or the environment and therefore the area should be removed from further study under this permit.
- b. For those SSAs which EPA agrees do not warrant an RFI, the Permittee shall prepare and submit to EPA and VDEQ for review, a brief decision document reflecting that agreement. This agreement must be signed by all the Project Coordinators.
- c. Where EPA determines that an RFI is required, the Permittee shall, within the next draft Amended Installation Action Plan, propose to EPA a Deadline or Milestone for the submission of the RFI Work Plan for each Area of Concern or SWMU. The schedule and Deadlines or Milestones included in the final RFI Work Plans) will be incorporated into the next update of the Installation Action Plan and will be the enforceable schedule for the submittal of the draft RFI.

RFI and CMS

8. The Permittee shall develop, implement and report upon a RFI for all SWMUs in Attachment A and any AOCs listed in Attachment A that are not screened out via the site screening process. The Permittee will continue to coordinate the cleanup of units listed in Attachment A-(SWMUs-10, 13, 26, 27, 28, 29, 32, 52, and 53; HWMUs-4, 5, 7, 16, 39 and the Hazardous-Waste Incinerator) with VDEQ and EPA. RFIs shall be conducted in accordance with the requirements and schedules set forth in the approved RFI Work Plan and Installation Action Plan. RFIs shall meet the purposes set forth in permit condition II.A (Statement of Purpose). A Baseline Risk Assessment shall be a component of the RFIs. Final Site clean-up level criteria will only be determined following completion of the Baseline Risk

Assessment.

9. The Permittee shall, in accordance with permit condition II.C and II.D, develop, implement and report upon a CMS for areas subject to an RFI. The CMS shall be conducted in accordance with the requirements and schedules set forth in the approved Installation Action Plan. The CMS shall meet the purposes set forth in permit condition II.A (Statement of Purpose). The Permittee shall follow the steps outlined in permit condition II.D.22-34 below.

Procedures for Interim Measures

- 10. If at any time during the pendency of this permit the Permittee obtains or discovers information concerning a release of any hazardous waste, solid waste or hazardous constituent at or from the Facility into the environment in addition to or different from that information submitted by the Permittee pursuant to permit condition I.C (Dispute Resolution) or II.E (Consultation), or in the Administrative Record, the Permittee shall:
 - a. Orally notify EPA within 48 hours of the source, nature, extent, location and amount of such release, the endangerment posed by such release and the actions taken and/or to be taken to address such release;
 - b. Unless otherwise directed by EPA, immediately take such actions as are necessary and appropriate to address such release, which are consistent with and integrated into any long-term remediation at the Facility;
 - c. Confirm the notification to EPA in writing within three (3) calendar days of providing oral notification; and
 - d. Report the actions taken and their results to EPA in writing within ten (10) calendar days of completion of said actions.
- 11. If the Regional Administrator determines, on the basis of information submitted by the Permittee pursuant to permit condition I.C (Dispute Resolution) or II.E (Consultation) or any other information obtained by the Permittee by conducting the RFI process, that corrective action is necessary to protect human health or the environment from a release of hazardous waste or constituents from a SWMU/AOC, the Permittee may be required to implement Interim Measures, as outlined in permit conditions II.D.10-20.
 - a. According to the EPA-approved schedule, the Permittee shall submit to EPA and VDEQ an Interim Measure CMS Work Plan and an Interim Measure CMS. Following EPA approval of the CMS and the selection of the IM, the Permittee shall submit to EPA and VDEQ an Interim Measures Design and an Interim Measures Action Work Plan. These plans must be approved by the Regional Administrator in accordance with permit

conditions I.C (Dispute Resolution) and II.E (Consultation).

- According to the EPA-approved schedule, the Permittee shall submit to EPA and VDEQ for EPA approval the Interim Measures Construction Completion Report, the Interim Measures Action Report, and necessary IM-Long-Term Monitoring Plans and IM Operation and Maintenance Plan required for each identified SWMU and AOC.
- c. Nothing in this Permit shall preclude the Permittee from performing Interim Measures at any time either to reduce or eliminate the risk to human health or the environment, or to prevent or reduce the spread of contamination. Such measures (e:g., source removal, capping, groundwater pump and treat) may be taken at any time during the term of this permit.
- d. Nothing in this Permit shall limit EPA's authority to undertake or require any person to undertake response action or corrective action under any law including, but not limited to, Sections 104 or 106 of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. §§ 9604 or 9606, and Section 7003 of RCRA, 42 U.S.C.§ 6973. Nothing in this permit shall relieve the Permittee of any obligation it may have under any law, including, but not limited to, Section 103 of CERCLA, to report releases of hazardous waste, hazardous constituents or hazardous substances to, at, or from the Facility.
- 12. The Permittee shall implement those Interim Measures (IM) the Regional Administrator has deemed necessary, in accordance with permit condition Part II.D, to prevent, minimize, or eliminate risks to human health and the environment caused by the release of hazardous substances, pollutants, or contaminants. An Interim Measure is identified, proposed, and implemented prior to the performance of the final corrective action.
- 13. When the Regional Administrator determines that an Interim Measure is necessary for an area(s) within the Facility, EPA will notify, in writing, the Permittee, of the determination. The determination notification to the Permittee under this permit will include the location of such area(s) on the Facility and the reason(s) the IM is required.
- 14. After the EPA determination that an Interim Measure is required under this Permit, the Army shall, in the next draft Amended Installation Action Plan, submit to EPA and the VDEQ proposed Deadlines for the submission of Work Plan(s) for the performance of a CMS for the identified area(s). The Deadlines will be finalized in accordance with permit condition II.G (Deadlines and Contents of the Installation Action Plan). Each CMS Work Plan shall contain a proposed Deadline for the submittal of the CMS. The schedule and Deadlines included in the approved, final CMS Work Plan will immediately be incorporated in the Installation Action Plan. The CMS shall include an evaluation of proposed

IM alternatives. The Permittee shall develop, implement, and report upon each CMS in accordance with the requirements set forth in the final CMS Work Plan. The Permittee will submit the CMS for the IM to EPA for review and approval.

- 15. Based upon the information contained in the EPA-approved CMS, the Permittee shall prepare a brief document proposing the selection of the Interim Measure(s) to control or abate the release, and which are expected to be a necessary component of the final remedy. The Permittee will submit the outline document to EPA for review and approval.
- 16. Following EPA approval of the proposed Interim Measure, the Army shall modify the Installation Action Plan to include a Deadline for the submission of a preliminary/conceptual Interim Measures 30% design document; a 90% prefinal Interim Measures design; a final Interim Measures Design; and an Interim Measures Work Plan. The Permittee shall develop clear and comprehensive design plans and specifications which include, but are not limited to the following:
 - a. Discussion of the design strategy and design basis, including:
 - (1) Compliance with all applicable or relevant environmental and human health standards.
 - (2) Minimization of environmental and human health impacts.
 - (3) Establishment of Interim Measures clean-up goals.
 - b. Discussion of the technical factors of importance including:
 - (1) Use of currently accepted environmental control measures and technology.
 - (2) The constructability of the design.
 - (3) Use of currently acceptable construction practices and techniques.
 - c. Description of assumptions made and detailed justification of these assumptions.
 - d. Discussion of the possible sources of error and references to possible operations and maintenance problems.
 - e. Detailed drawings of the proposed design sealed and signed by a registered P.E.
 - f. Tables listing equipment and specifications.

- g. Appendices, including:
 - (1) Results of laboratory or field tests.
 - (2) Sample calculations
- 17. The Interim Measures (IM) Work Plans shall at a minimum contain a schedule for the completion of the IM Action, a Health and Safety Plan, a Sampling and Analysis Plan, a Quality Assurance Project Plan, IM Action Specifications, Erosion Control and Sedimentation Plan, Decontamination Plan, a Long-Term Monitoring Plan (if necessary), and an Operation and Maintenance Plan. The schedule for the performance of the IM action contained in the final IM Work Plans will be immediately incorporated into the Installation Action Plan.
- 18. After the final IM design and IM Action Work Plan is approved, pursuant to permit condition II.E (Consultation), the Permittee shall begin performance of the IM action in accordance with the final IM design and IM Work Plan. The IM action(s) shall be completed in accordance with the approved IM design and IM Work Plan.
- 19. The Permittee shall submit to EPA and VDEQ an IM Action Report in accordance with the schedule in the Installation Action Plan following the completion of the Interim Measures Action for each SWMU or AOC. The IM Action Report shall document the cleanup activities that took place at the SWMU or AOC, and report on any post-IM action confirmation sampling that may have been performed. For any required Long-Term Response Action (LTRA), an IM Construction Completion Report shall be prepared when the physical construction of the system is complete and the unit is operating as designed. Such IM Construction Completion Report shall be amended and finalized when the LTRA performance standards specified in the IM design and IM Work Plan are achieved.
- 20. The IM Action Report shall outline in detail, and provide an explanation for, any activities that were not conducted in accordance with the final IM Design and/or IM Action Work Plan(s). In addition, in accordance with the schedule provided in the Installation Action Plan, after the completion of the IM Action for each SWMU or AOC, the Permittee shall submit a Long-Term Monitoring Plan and an Operation and Maintenance Plan (if necessary) to EPA and VDEQ for review. Draft Long-Term Monitoring Plan(s) and draft Operation and Maintenance Plan(s) shall be submitted prior to finalization of the IM Action Report for each SWMU or AOC. Long-Term Monitoring Plan(s) and Operation and Maintenance Plan(s) finalized under this permit shall contain schedules for completion of the work described therein. These schedules shall be incorporated in the Installation Action Plan and become enforceable pursuant to the terms of this permit.
- 21. Following EPA's approval of the IM Action Report for each SWMU or AOC, and the subsequent EPA approval of necessary IM Long-Term Monitoring Plans and IM Operation and Maintenance Plan, the SWMU or AOC should be evaluated

under the Site Screening section, (permit Condition II.D.5-7) of this permit to determine if additional work is needed at the SWMU or AOC.

Statement of Basis and Corrective Measures Implementation

- Permit conditions II.D.23-26 shall apply to selection of final corrective measures actions.
- 23. Within sixty (60) days after finalization of the CMS, the Permittee will submit a draft Statement of Basis. EPA will issue the Statement of Basis, which includes EPA's tentative selection of the corrective measures to be implemented. The EPA Statement of Basis will be published for forty-five (45) days of public review and comment.
- 24. EPA and the Permittee shall hold a public information meeting during the public comment period to discuss the preferred alternative for each corrective measures action. Copies of all written and oral public comments received will be provided to the Parties. Public review and comment shall be conducted in accordance with Part 124 of RCRA, and applicable EPA
- 25. Following the close of the public comment period, including any extensions, the Permittee shall submit a draft Final Decision/Response to Comments (FDRC). The FDRC will include a Responsiveness Summary, in accordance with applicable EPA Guidance. EPA will issue the Final Decision/Response to Comments (FDRC) subsequent to the EPA final review.
- 26. Prior to the implementation of the selected corrective measure, as contained in the FDRC, the Regional Administrator will modify the permit according to procedures in permit condition I.E (permit Modification, Revocation and Reissuance).

Corrective Measures Design and Corrective Measures Action

- 27. The Installation Action Plan shall include a Target Date for submission of: (i) a preliminary/conceptual Corrective Measures Design document; (ii) a thirty (30) percent design report; (iii) a ninety (90) percent or pre-final Corrective Measures Design; and, (iv) a Deadline for the final Corrective Measures Design. The Corrective Measures Design shall provide the appropriate plans and specifications describing the intended corrective measures construction and shall include provisions necessary to ensure that the corrective measures action will achieve the performance standards identified in the FDRC.
- 28. The Corrective Measures (CM) Work Plan(s) shall at a minimum contain a schedule for the completion of the CM Action, a Health and Safety Plan, a Sampling and Analysis Plan, a Quality Assurance Project Plan, CM Action Specifications, Erosion Control and Sedimentation Plan, Decontamination Plan,

CM Action Contingency Plan, a Long Term Monitoring Plan if necessary, and an Operation and Maintenance Plan, if necessary. The schedule contained in the final CM Work Plan(s) will be immediately incorporated in the Installation Action Plan.

29. After the final design document is approved, pursuant to permit condition II.E (Consultation), the Permittee shall begin performance of the Corrective Measures Action (CMA) in accordance with the EPA-approved CM Design and the CM Work Plan. The CMA shall be completed in accordance with the EPA-approved final CM Design and CM Work Plan and all applicable EPA and VDEQ guidance.

Finalization of Corrective Measures Actions

- 30. The Permittee shall submit to EPA and VDEQ a CM Action Report in accordance with the schedule in the Installation Action Plan following the completion of the Corrective Measures Action for each SWMU or AOC. The CM Action Report shall document the cleanup activities that took place at the SWMU or AOC, and that performance standards specified in the FDRC have been met. For each Long-Term Response Action (LTRA), an Interim CM Action Report shall be prepared when the physical construction of the system is complete and the unit is operating as designed. Such Interim CM Action Report shall be amended and finalized when the LTRA performance standards specified in the FDRC are achieved.
- 31. In accordance with the schedule provided in the Installation Action Plan, after the completion of the CM Action for each SWMU or AOC, the Permittee shall submit a Long-Term Monitoring Plan and an Operation and Maintenance Plan (if necessary) to EPA and VDEQ for review. Draft Long-Term Monitoring Plan(s) and draft Operation and Maintenance Plan(s) shall be submitted prior to finalization of the CM Action Report for each SWMU or AOC. Long-Term Monitoring Plan(s) and Operation and Maintenance Plan(s) finalized under this permit shall contain schedules for completion of the work described therein. These schedules shall be incorporated in the Installation Action Plan and become enforceable pursuant to the terms of this permit

<u>Construction Completion/ SWMU or AOC Completion/ Corrective Measures Completion</u>

32. The Permittee agrees that it shall submit to EPA and VDEQ a Preliminary Close Out Report. (PCOR) in accordance with the schedule in the Installation Action Plan following the completion of physical construction of the CM action for the last SWMU or AOC requiring Corrective Action at the Site. The PCOR shall demonstrate and document that physical construction at all identified SWMUs and AOCs at the Site has been completed. The PCOR must contain a schedule for the completion of any remaining Corrective Measures Actions to adequately address all SWMUs and AOCs at the Site and other procedural requirements

necessary to issue a Final Close Out Report (FCOR). The PCOR shall focus on construction at the Site, including the releases at the Site, Site conditions, construction activities, CM actions, completion of construction, and a detailed schedule of steps remaining for Site completion. The Parties recognize that in some cases, depending on the nature of the CM action at the last SWMU or AOC, a PCOR may not be necessary and that the FCOR may meet the requirements for Site completion.

- 33. When the Permittee determines that CM Actions at all identified SWMUs and AOCs have been completed, it shall submit a FCOR to EPA and VDEQ for review. The FCOR shall document compliance with statutory requirements and provide a consolidated record of all Corrective Measures Actions activities for all identified SWMUs and AOCs at the Site. The FCOR documents Site corrective action completion. In order for a Site to be eligible for Site completion, the following criteria must be met:
 - a. Performance standards specified in all FDRC(s) have been met, and all cleanup actions and other measures identified in the FDRC(s) have been successfully implemented.
 - b. The constructed remedies are operational and performing according to engineering specifications.
 - c. The Site is protective of human health and the environment.
 - d. The only remaining activities, if any, at the Site are operation and maintenance activities (which may include long-term monitoring).
- 34. The FCOR shall cover the entire Site, including all identified SWMUs and AOCs. As outlined in permit condition II.D.30-31, the CM Action Report for each SWMU and AOC, including the final SWMU or AOC, is required to document that work was performed according to design specifications. A CM Action Report, however, cannot document Site corrective action completion. Only the FCOR satisfies Site completion requirements. The FCOR shall include a discussion regarding any operation and maintenance requirements and/or land use restrictions required at the Site.

E. CONSULTATION

Review and Comment Process for Draft and Final Documents

- 1. Applicability:
 - a. The provisions of this section establish the procedures that shall be used by the Parties to provide each other with appropriate notice, review, comment, and response to comments regarding RFI/CMS and CM

Design/CM Action documents, specified herein. The Permittee will be responsible for issuing documents to EPA and the VDEQ. As of the effective date of this permit, all draft and final reports for any deliverable document identified herein shall be prepared, distributed and subject to dispute in accordance with permit condition II.E.2-6.

b. The designation of a document as "draft" or "final" is solely for purposes of consultation with EPA and the VDEQ in accordance with this Section. Such designation does not affect the obligation of the Permittee to issue documents, which may be referred to herein as "final," to the public for review and comment as appropriate and as required by law.

2. General Process for SSP, RFI/CMS and CM Design/Action Documents:

- a. Deliverable Documents include those documents that are major, discrete portions of the SSP, RFI/CMS or CM Design Action activities. Deliverable Documents are initially issued by the Permittee in draft subject to review by EPA and the VDEQ and approval by EPA. Following receipt of comments on a particular draft Deliverable Document, the Permittee will respond to the comments received and issue a draft revised Deliverable Document, for EPA review and approval, which is subject to dispute resolution.
- b. The thirty (30) percent design report and the ninety (90) percent or prefinal Corrective Measures Design are discrete portions of Deliverable Documents and are typically input or feeder documents. The thirty (30) percent design report and the ninety (90) percent or prefinal Corrective Measures Design are issued by the Permittee in draft subject to review by EPA and the VDEQ and approval by EPA. Although the Permittee will respond to comments received, the thirty (30) percent design report and the ninety (90) percent or prefinal Corrective Measures Design may be finalized in the context of the corresponding draft final Deliverable Documents. The thirty (30) percent design report and the ninety (90) percent or prefinal Corrective Measures Design may be disputed at the time the corresponding draft final Deliverable Document is issued.

3. Deliverable Documents:

- a. Prior to the effective date of this permit, the Permittee has completed and submitted the following draft Deliverable Documents to EPA and the VDEQ for review and EPA approval. These documents are listed in Attachment F of this Permit.
- All Deliverable Documents shall be prepared in accordance with applicable EPA guidance. The Permittee shall complete and transmit drafts of the following Deliverable Documents to EPA and the VDEQ for

review and EPA for approval in accordance with the provisions of this Section:

- (1) Site Screening Process Work Plans
- (2) Site Screening Process Reports
- (3) Interim Measures Corrective Measure Study Work Plan (IM CMS WP)
- (4) Interim Measures CMS Report
- (5) Interim Measures CM Design
- (6) Interim Measures CM Action Work Plan
- (7) Interim Measures CM Construction Completion Report
- (8) Interim Measures CM Long-Term Monitoring Plan
- (9) Interim Measures CM Operation & Maintenance Plan
- (10) RFI/CMS Work Plans (including approach for Baseline Risk Assessment for human health and the environment) and CMS Work Plans
- (11) RFI Reports (including baseline Risk Assessments for human health and the environment)
- (12) CMS Reports
- (13) Treatability Studies
- (14) CM Designs
- (15) CM Action Work Plans
 - Schedules for Corrective Measures Action
 - CM Action Sampling Plan
 - CM Action Construction Quality/Assurance Project Plan
 - CM Action Environmental Monitoring Plan
 - CM Action Health and Safety Plan
 - CM Action Decontamination Plan
 - CM Action Contingency Plan
- (16) Long-Term Monitoring Plans
- (17) CM Construction Completion Reports
- (18) CM Action Reports

- (19) Operation and Maintenance Plans
- (20) Preliminary Close-Out Report (PCOR)
- (21) Final Close Out-Report (FCOR)
- (22) Installation Action Plan
- (23) Community Relations Plan
- c. Only the revised draft Deliverable Documents identified above shall be subject to dispute resolution in accordance with permit condition I.C (Dispute Resolution). The Permittee shall complete and transmit draft Deliverable Documents in accordance with the schedule and Deadlines established in permit condition II.G (Deadlines and Contents of Installation Action Plan).

4. Review and Comment on Draft: Documents:

- a. The Permittee shall complete and transmit each draft Deliverable
 Document to EPA and the VDEQ on or before the corresponding Deadline
 established pursuant to Permit Condition II.G (Deadlines and Contents of
 Installation Action Plan) for the issuance of the document.
- b. Review of any document by EPA and the VDEQ may concern all aspects of the document (including completeness) and should include, but not be limited to, technical evaluation of any aspect of the document, and consistency with RCRA. The Permittee shall respond to EPA and/or VDEQ comments and, if appropriate, make changes to the draft document.
- c. In the event documents not scheduled in the current Installation Action Plan are determined by mutual agreement of the Project Coordinators to be necessary, review periods, Deadlines, and Target Dates shall be established and shall be incorporated into the amended Installation Action Plan.
- d. The Permittee shall make itself readily available to EPA and the VDEQ during the review of Deliverable Documents for purposes of responding to questions and comments on draft documents.
- e. Following the review and comment for a draft document, the Permittee shall give full consideration to all written comments on the draft document submitted. Within sixty (60) days of the receipt of EPA comments on a draft Deliverable Document, the Permittee shall transmit to EPA and the VDEQ a revised draft Deliverable Document, which shall include the Permittee's response to all written comments received.

f. The Permittee may request the 60-day period for either responding to comments on a draft document or for issuing the revised draft Deliverable Document for an additional twenty (20) days by providing timely notice to EPA and the VDEQ. In appropriate circumstances, this time period may be further extended in accordance with permit condition II.F (Extensions).

5. Finalization of Documents:

- a. The revised draft Deliverable Document shall serve as the final Deliverable Document if EPA approves of the revised draft document. If EPA's comments are not satisfactorily addressed in the revised draft Deliverable Document, EPA will disapprove the revised draft Deliverable Document, and the revised draft Deliverable Document cannot be finalized without EPA approval. If the revised draft Deliverable Document is disapproved by EPA, the Permittee may invoke dispute resolution regarding the disapproval. If dispute resolution is invoked regarding EPA's disapproval of a revised draft Deliverable Document, and the Permittee's position is upheld, the revised draft Deliverable Document may become the final Deliverable Document.
- b. If the Permittee's position on a revised draft Deliverable Document is not sustained in the dispute resolution process provided in permit condition I.C, the Permittee shall prepare, within not more than sixty (60) days, a revision of the revised draft Deliverable Document which conforms to the results of dispute resolution. In appropriate circumstances, the time period for this revision period may be extended in accordance with permit condition II.F (Extensions).

6. Subsequent Modification of Final Document:

Following finalization of any Deliverable Document pursuant to permit condition II.E.5 above, any Party to this permit may seek to modify the document, including seeking additional field work, pilot studies, computer modeling or other supporting technical work only as provided in Subsections a. and b. below.

- a. A Party may seek to modify a document after finalization if it determines, based on new information (i.e., information that became available, or conditions that became known, after the document was finalized) that the requested modification is necessary. A Party may seek such a modification by submitting a concise written request to the Project Coordinator of the other Party. The request shall specify the nature of the requested modification and how the request is based on new information.
- b. Nothing in this Subsection shall alter EPA's or the VDEQ's ability to request the performance of additional work which was not contemplated by this permit. The Permittee's obligation to perform such work can be

established by either a modification of a report or document or by amendment to this permit.

F. EXTENSIONS

- 1. A timetable, Deadline or schedule shall be extended upon receipt of a timely request for extension and when good cause exists for the requested extension as described in permit condition II.F.2, below. Any request for extension by the Permittee shall be submitted in writing and shall specify:
 - a. The timetable, Deadline or schedule that is sought to be extended;
 - b. The length of the extension sought;
 - c. The good cause(s) for the extension; and
 - d. Any related timetable and Deadline or schedule that would be affected if the extension were granted.
- 2. Good cause exists for an extension when sought in regard to:
 - a. A delay caused by the good faith invocation of dispute resolution or the initiation of judicial action;
 - b. A delay caused, or which is likely to be caused, by the grant of an extension in regard to another timetable and Deadline or schedule; and
 - c. Any other event or series of events mutually agreed to by the Parties as constituting good cause.
- 3. Absent agreement of the Parties with respect to the existence of good cause, Permittee may seek and obtain a determination through the dispute resolution process that good cause exists.
- 4. Within twenty-one (21) days of receipt of a request for an extension of a timetable and Deadline or a schedule, the EPA shall advise the Permittee in writing of its position on the request. If EPA does not concur in the requested extension, it shall include in its statement of nonconcurrence an explanation of the basis for its position.
- 5. If there is consensus among the Parties that the requested extension is warranted, the Permittee shall extend the affected timetable and Deadline or schedule accordingly. If there is no consensus among the Parties as to whether all or part of the requested extension is warranted, the timetable and Deadline or schedule shall not be extended except in accordance with a determination resulting from the dispute resolution process.
- 6. Within seven (7) days of receipt of a statement of nonconcurrence with the requested extension, the Permittee may invoke dispute resolution.

7. A written, timely and good faith request by the Permittee for an extension shall toll any application for enforcement of the affected timetable and Deadline or schedule until a decision is reached on whether the requested extension will be approved. If dispute resolution is invoked and the requested extension is denied enforcement may be initiated by EPA.

G. DEADLINES AND CONTENTS OF THE INSTALLATION ACTION PLAN

- 1. This permit establishes recognizes the Department of the Army's ongoing planning, programming, budgeting and scheduling a-process for preparingereating the Installation Action Plan (IAP). The Radford AAP shall submit anthe IAP within 45 days of the effective date of this permit, which will be attached to this in accordance with permit condition II G.5.as Attachment HG. The IAP is an and each annual report for the Amendment to the IAP shall be Deliverable Documents. Milestones established in the IAP or established in a final Amendment to the IAP remain unchanged unless otherwise agreed to by the Parties or unless directed to be changed pursuant to the agreed dispute resolution process set out in permit condition I.C. In addition, if an activity is fully funded in the current FY, Milestones associated with the performance of work and submittal of Deliverable Documents associated with such activity (even if they extend beyond the current FY) shall be enforceable.
- 2. The IAP includes proposed actions for both CERCLA and RCRA actions. The IAP will incorporate all Milestones contained in approved Work Plans from the prior year-
- 3. Milestones in the IAP reflect the priorities agreed to by the Parties through a process of "Risk Plus Other Factors" Priority Setting. Site activities have been prioritized by weighing and balancing a variety of factors including, but not limited to: (i) the DoD Relative Risk Process rankings for the Site; (ii) current, planned, or potential uses of the Facility; (iii) ecological impacts; (iv) impacts on human health; (v) intrinsic and future value of affected resources; (vi) cost effectiveness of the proposed activities; (vii) environmental justice considerations; (viii) regulatory requirements; and, (ix) actual and anticipated funding levels. While Milestones should not be driven by budget targets, such targets should be considered when setting Milestones. Furthermore, in setting and modifying Milestones, the Parties agree to make good faith efforts to accommodate Federal fiscal constraints, which include budget targets established by the Department of the Army. Material Command.

4. The IAP and its annual Amendments includes:

- a. A description of actions necessary to mitigate any immediate threat to human health or the environment;
- b. A listing of all currently identified Defense Site Environmental

Restoration Tracking System (DSERTS) Sites. These include Solid Waste Management Units (SWMUs), Areas of Concern (AOCs), Site Screening Areas (SSAs), RFI/CMS investigations. Interim Corrective Measure Actions, Supplemental Response Actions, and final Corrective Measure Actions covered or identified pursuant to this permit;

- c. Activities and schedules for CERCLA and RCRA actions covered by the IAP, including at a minimum:
 - Identification of any Interim Measures or final Corrective Measures Actions;
 - All Deadlines;
 - All Near Term Milestones;
 - All Out Year Milestones;
 - All Target Dates;
 - Schedule for initiation of Corrective Measures Designs, Interim Measures Corrective Measure Designs and Actions, and any initiation of other planned CERCLA and RCRA action(s) covered by this permit; and
 - All Project End Dates.
- 5. The Radford Radford FAAP shall submit an Amendment to the IAP on an annual basis no later than November 15th of each year. as provided in permit condition II.H (Budget Development and Amendment of Installation Action Plan).

Formatted: Superscript

All Amendments to the IAP shall conform to all of the requirements set forth in this Section.

6. The Milestones established in accordance with this Section and permit condition II.H (Budget Development and Amendment of Installation Action Plan) remain the same unless otherwise agreed by the Parties, or unless changed in accordance with the dispute resolution procedures set out in permit condition I.C. The Parties recognize that possible bases for requests for changes or extensions of the Milestones include but are not limited to (i) the identification of significant new site conditions at this installation; (ii) reprioritization of activities under this permit caused by changing priorities or new site conditions elsewhere in the Department of Defense; (iii) reprioritization of activities under this permit caused by budget adjustments (e.g., rescissions, inflation adjustments, and reduced Congressional appropriations); (iv) a delay caused by the good faith invocation of dispute resolution or the initiation of judicial action; (vi) a delay caused, or which is likely to be caused, by the grant of an extension in regard to another timetable

and Deadline or schedule; and (vii) any other event or series of events mutually agreed to by the Parties as constituting good cause.

H. BUDGET DEVELOPMENT AND AMENDMENT OF INSTALLATION ACTION PLAN

1. The Department of Defense, as a Federal agency, is subject to fiscal controls, hereinafter referred to as the Five Year Defense Plan (FYDP). The planning, programming, and budgeting process, hereinafter referred to as the Program Operating Memorandum (POM) process, is used to review total requirements for DoD programs and make appropriate adjustments within the FYDP for each program while adhering to the overall FYDP control. The Parties recognize that the POM process is a multi-year process. The Parties also agree that each Party should be involved in the full cycle of POM activities as specified in this permit. Further, the Parties agree that each Party should consider the factors listed in permit condition II.G.3, including Federal fiscal constraints as well as each of the other factors, in their priority-setting decisions. Initial efforts to close any gap between cleanup needs and funding availability shall be focused on the identification and implementation of cost savings.

Facility-Specific Budget Building

2. Radford AAP's chain of command is as follows: Radford AAP reports to Operations Support Command (OSC) which reports to Army Material Command (AMC) which reports to Headquarters, Department of the Army (HQDA), which reports to the Department of Defense (DoD). In order to promote effective involvement by the Parties in the POM/IAP building process within the chain of command, the Parties will meet at the Project Coordinator level for the purpose of (1) reviewing the FYDP controls; (2) developing a list of requirements/work to be performed at the Site for inclusion in the Department of the Army POM process; and, (3) participating in development of the Department of the Army submission to the President's proposed budget, based on POM decisions for the year currently under consideration. For Environmental Restoration, Army (ER,A) eligible Sites, the POM building process is accomplished through the Cost to Complete (CTC) and the IAP. For non ER, A Sites the budget building process occurs on a different time schedule and through different mechanisms. Given that this is the case, unless the Parties agree to a different time frame, the Radford AAP agrees to provide EPA and DEQ at the Project Coordinator level the opportunity to participate in the annual IAP revision process, notify EPA within ten (10) days of receipt, at the Project Coordinator level, that budget controls have been received. Unless the Parties agree to a different time frame or agree that a meeting is not necessary, the Parties will meet, at the Project Coordinator level, within five (5) days of receiving such notification to discuss the budget controls. However, this consultation must occur at least ten (10) days prior to the Radford AAP's initial budget (CTC) submission to OSC. It is understood by both Parties that notification of budget constraints for ERA and non-ER, A Sites may not occur

simultaneously.

3. In the event that the Project Coordinators cannot agree on funding levels required to perform all work outlined in the IAP, the Parties agree to make reasonable efforts to informally resolve these disagreements, either at the immediate or secondary supervisor level; this would also include discussions, as necessary, with Operations Support Command and EPA's Hazardous Site Cleanup Division and their counterparts within the Department of Army leadership. If agreement cannot be reached informally within a reasonable period of time, the Operations Support Command-Radford AAP shall resolve will elevate the disagreementissue through Department of the Army, if possible with the concurrence of EPA, and notify EPA. If EPA does not concur in the resolution. the Operations Support CommandRadford AAP will forward through the Department of the Army Material Command to HQDA its budget request with the views of EPA and also inform the Department of the Army HQDA of the possibility of future enforcement action should the money requested not be sufficient to perform the work subject to disagreement.

Radford Army Ammunition Plant Budget for Clean Up Activities

4. The Radford Army Ammunition Plant shall forward to EPA documentation of the budget: requests for the Site, as submitted by the Radford AAP to OSC and by AMC to HQDA, within 14 days after the submittal of such documentation to the HQDA by AMC.

Amended IAP

The initial IAP is due to HODA on March 1. No later than November 15 of each 45. year after the initial adoption of the IAP, the ArmyRadford AAP shall submit the IAP annually to the EPA per permit condition II.G.5.. a draft-Amendment to the IAP. When formulating the draft Amendment to the IAP, the Army shall consider funding circumstances (including OMB targets/guidance) and "risk plus other factors" outlined in permit condition II.G.3 to evaluate whether the previously agreed upon Milestones should change. Prior to proposing changes to Milestones in its annual Amendment to the IAP, the Permittee will first offer to meet with EPA at the Project Coordinator level to discuss the proposed changes. The Parties will attempt to agree on Milestones before the Permittee submits the annual AmendmentIAP by the date in permit condition II.G.5 November 15, but failure to agree on such proposed changes does not modify thise November 15 date, unless agreed by both the Parties. Any proposed extensions or other changes to Milestones must be explained in a cover letter to the draft Amendment to the IAP. The draft Amendment to the IAP should reflect any agreements made by the Parties during the POM process outlined in this Section. Resolution of any disagreement over adjustment of Milestones pursuant to this subsection shall be resolved pursuant to permit conditions II.H.5 - 6-7.

- 56. The Parties shall meet as necessary to discuss the draft Amendment to the IAP. The Parties shall use the consultation process contained in permit condition II.E (Consultation). As the IAP is an annual submission there are no provisions for draft and final versions. Changes or revisions past March 15th of each year are to be addressed in the subsequent IAP.
- 67. The Permittee shall finalize the draft revised Amendment as a final Amendment to the IAP consistent with EPA's approval Project Coordinator agreements. In the absence of EPA approval, the Permittee shall finalize the draft revised Amendment or in accordance with the final decision of the dispute resolution process. The draft revised Amendment to the IAP shall not become implementable final until 21 days after the Radford AAP receives official notification through the Department of the Army of Congress' authorization and appropriation of funds if funding is sufficient to complete work in the draft final-IAP or, in the event of a funding shortfall, following the procedures in permit condition II.H.78 However, upon approval of the draft revised Amendment or conclusion of the dispute resolution process, the Parties shall implement the IAP while awaiting official notification of Congress' authorization and appropriation.

Resolving Appropriations Shortfalls

78. After authorization and appropriation of funds by Congress and within 21 days after the Radford AAP has received official notification through the Department of the Army of its allocation based on the current year's Environmental Restoration, Army (ER,A) Account, the Radford AAP shall determine if planned work (as outlined in the draft revised Amendment to the IAP can be accomplished with the allocated funds. (1) If the allocated funds are sufficient to complete all planned work for that fiscal year and there are no changes required to the draft revised Amendment to the IAP, the Permittee shall notify the Project Coordinators of this orally or by email and begin actions to implement the work.immediately forward a letter to EPA indicating that the draft revised Amendment to the IAP has become the final Amendment to the IAP. (2) If the Permittee determines within the 21-day period specified above that the allocated funds are not sufficient to accomplish the planned work for the Site (an appropriations shortfall), the Permittee shall immediately notify the Project Coordinators or ally or by email. EPA. The Project Coordinators shall meet within thirty (30) days to determine if planned work (as outlined in the draft revised Amendment to the IAP can be accomplished through: 1) rescoping or rescheduling activities in a manner that does not cause previously agreed upon Near Term Milestones and Out Year Milestones to be missed; or 2) developing and implementing new cost-saving measures. If, during this thirty (30) day discussion period, the Parties determine that rescoping or implementing costsaving measures are not sufficient to offset the appropriations shortfall such that Near Term Milestones, Out Year Milestones, and Project End Dates should be

modified, the Parties shall discuss these changes and develop modified Milestones. Such modifications shall be based on the "Risk Plus Other Factors" prioritization process discussed in permit condition II.G.3, and shall be specifically identified by the Permittee. The Permittee shall submit a Summary of Milestone Schedule Modifications new draft revised Amendment to the IAP to EPA within 30 days of the end of the 30 day discussion period. In preparing the Summary of Milestone Schedule Modifications draft revised Amendment to the IAP, the Permittee shall give full consideration to EPA input during the 30-day discussion period. If the EPA approves the Summary of Milestone Schedule Modifications modifications made to the draft revised Amendment to the IAP, EPA shall notify the Permittee and the Summary of Milestone Schedule Modifications are to be incorporated into the subsequent IAP. draft-revised Amendment shall become the final Amendment. If the EPA disapproves with the Summary of Milestone Schedule Modifications modifications made to the druft revised amendment to the IAP the Permittee may seek and obtain a determination through the dispute resolution process established in permit condition I.C (Dispute Resolution).

Public Participation

- 89. In addition to any other provision for public participation contained in this permit, the development of the IAP, including its annual Amendments, shall include participation by members of the public interested in this action. In accordance with current DoD policies, the Radford Army Ammunition PlantAAP will ensure that the opportunity for such public participation is timely.
 - a. For Radford Army Ammunition PlantAAP the "members of the public interested in this action" are represented by the Restoration Advisory Board.
 - b. The Radford Army Ammunition PlantAAP shall provide timely notification under permit condition II.H.8, regarding allocation of ER,A, to the members of the public interested in this action.
 - c. The Radford Army Ammunition PlantAAP shall provide opportunity for discussion under permit conditions II.H.2-8 to the members of the public interested in this action.
 - d. The Radford Army Ammunition PlantAAP shall ensure that public participation provided for in permit condition II.H.9 complies with Executive Order 12898, Federal Actions to Address Environmental Justice in Minority Populations and Low-Income Populations.

I. FUNDING

1. It is the expectation of the Parties to this permit that all obligations of the Radford

Army Ammunition PlantAAP arising under this permit will be fully funded. The Army agrees to seek sufficient funding through the budgetary process to fulfill obligations under this permit.

- 2. The Radford Army Ammunition PlantAAP shall submit to DoD, through the appropriate budget process Cost to Complete, the specific cost estimates and budgetary proposals associated with the implementation of this permit.
- 3. Any requirement for the payment or obligation of funds by the Radford Army Ammunition PlantAAP established by the terms of this permit shall be subject to the availability of appropriated funds, and no provision herein shall be interpreted to require obligation or payment of funds in violation of the Anti-Deficiency Act, 31 U.S.C. Section 1341. In cases where payment or obligation of funds would constitute a violation of the Anti-Deficiency Act, the dates established requiring the payment or obligation of such funds shall be appropriately adjusted.
- 4. If appropriated funds are not available to fulfill the Permittee's obligations under this permit, EPA reserves the right to initiate an action against any other person, or to take any response action, which would be appropriate absent this permit.

J. EMERGENCY RESPONSE; RELEASE REPORTING

1. Emergencies

If, at any time during the term of this permit, the Permittee discovers that a release of hazardous waste or hazardous constituents at or from the Facility is presenting or may present an imminent and substantial endangerment to human health or the environment, and such release is not subject to Contingency Plan and Emergency Procedures as defined in the portion of the RCRA permit issued by VDEQ, the Permittee shall:

- a. Notify EPA as soon as practicable of the source, nature, extent, location and amount of such release, the endangerment posed by such release and the actions taken and/or to be taken, to the extent known, to address such release. Such notification shall be confirmed in writing within three (3) days of discovery of such release; and
- b. Unless otherwise directed by EPA, immediately take such actions as are necessary and appropriate to address such release.

2. Releases

If, at any time during the term of this permit, the Permittee discovers a release of hazardous waste or hazardous constituents at or from the Facility which:

a. Is not being addressed by corrective measures at the time of such

discovery;

- b. Is not being addressed pursuant to permit conditions II.D.12 or II.J; or
- c. Is not subject to the Contingency Plan and Emergency Procedures as set forth in the portion of the RCRA permit issued by VDEQ, the Permittee shall notify EPA, in writing, of the nature, source, extent, location and approximate amount of such release within seven (7) days of discovery of such release.
- 3. Based on the information submitted in permit condition II.J.2, the Regional Administrator may require the SWMU/AOC to be included in an ongoing RCRA Facility Investigation or may require Interim Measures (see permit condition II.D.12).
- 4. Nothing in this permit shall limit EPA's authority to undertake or require any person to undertake response action or corrective action under any law, including but not limited to, Sections 104 or 106 of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. §§ 9604 or 9606, and Section 7003 of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6973. Nothing in this permit shall relieve the Permittee of any obligation it may have under any law, including, but not limited to, Section 103 of CERCLA, to report releases of hazardous waste, hazardous constituents or hazardous substances to, at or from the Facility.

K. GUIDANCE DOCUMENTS

In addition to guidance documents specified elsewhere in this permit or Attachments, the following documents shall be referred to, as appropriate:

(Note: This list is not intended to be an all-inclusive list of EPA guidance documents, but rather a list of the more commonly used guidance documents. This list does not preclude the use of any other EPA guidance document.)

 U.S. EPA, May 1978 (Rev. May-1986 August 1991), NEIC Policies and Procedures. Office of Enforcement and Compliance Monitoring, National Enforcement Investigations Center. EPA-330/9-78-001-R, Denver, Colorado, 80225;

Formatted: Not Highlight

- 2. U.S. EPA, March 1987, <u>Data Quality Objectives for Remedial Response Activities</u>, Volume 1: <u>Development Process</u>, Volume 2: <u>Example Scenario</u>, Office of Emergency and Remedial Response and Office of Waste Programs Enforcement. EPA 540/6-87/003a, OSWER Directive No. 9335.0-7B;
- Formatted: Not Highlight
- 32. U.S. EPA, April March 19911989, Handbook of Suggested Practices for the Design and Installation of Ground-Water Monitoring Wells. EPA/600/4-89/034;

Formatted: Highlight
Formatted: Not Highlight

43. U.S. EPA, October 1986, RCRA Facility Assessment Guidance. Office of Solid

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Space Before: 6 pt, After: 6 pt Waste, OSWER Directive No. 9502.00-5;

U.S. EPA, May 1989, Interim Final RCRA Facility Investigation (RFI) Guidance, Formatted: Not Highlight Volumes I-IV, Office of Solid Waste, OSWER Directive No. 9502.00-6D; Formatted: Highlight 6. U.S. EPA, June 1988, Interim Final RCRA Corrective Interim Measures Guidance, Office of Solid Waste, EPA/530-SW-88-029, OSWER Directive No. 9902.4: Formatted: Highlight U.S. EPA, August 1991, Handbook - Stabilization Technologies for RCRA Corrective Actions. Center for Environmental Research Information, EPA/625/4-91/029; Formatted: Highlight U.S. EPA, November 1992, RCRA Ground-Water Monitoring: Draft Technical Guidance, Office of Solid Waste, EPA/530-R-93-001; Formatted: Highlight U.S. EPA, May 1994, RCRA Corrective Action Plan: Office of Solid Waste, EPA 520-R-94-004, OSWER Directive No. 9902.3-2A: Formatted: Highlight 10. Cohen, Robert M. and Mercer, James W. DNAPL Site Evaluation. (funded by U.S. EPA), 1993; Formatted: Highlight U.S. EPA, May 1995, Land Use in the CERCLA Remedy Selection Process; 11. Office of Solid Waste, OSWER Directive No. 9355.7-04; and Formatted: Space Before: 6 pt, 12. Guidance on Quality Assurance for Environmental Technology Design, After: 6 pt Construction and Operation. EPA QA/G-11. EPA/240/B-05/001. January 2005 U.S EPA, 2006a, Guidance on Systematic Planning using the Data Quality 13. Objectives Process, EPA QA/G-4. EPA/240/B-06/001. February 2006. U.S EPA, 2006b, Systematic Planning: A Case Study for Hazardous Waste 13. Site Investigations. EPA/240/B-06/004. February 2006 14. Any future Agency guidance provided by EPA to the Facility regarding Corrective Measure Studies, Design or Implementation.

L. SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT UNIT (SWMU) ASSESSMENT

- 1. The Permittee shall notify the Regional Administrator in writing of any newly-identified SWMU at the Facility, no later than thirty (30) days after the date of discovery. The notification shall include, but not be limited to, the following known information:
 - a. A description of the SWMU's type, function, dates of operation, location (including a map), design criteria, dimensions, materials of construction, capacity, ancillary systems (e.g., piping), release controls, alterations made

to the unit, engineering drawings, and all closure and post-closure information available, particularly whether wastes were left in place;

- b. A description of the composition and quantities of solid wastes processed by the units with emphasis on hazardous wastes and hazardous constituents; and
- c. A description of any release (or suspected release) of hazardous waste or hazardous constituents originating from the unit. Include information on the date of release, type of hazardous waste or hazardous constituents, quantity released, nature of the release extent of release migration, and cause of release (e.g., overflow, broken pipe, tank. leak, etc.). Also provide any available data which would quantify the nature and extent of environmental contamination, including the results of soil and/or groundwater sampling and analysis efforts. Likewise, submit any existing monitoring information that indicates releases of hazardous waste or hazardous constituents have not occurred or are not occurring. The Permittee may refer to information regarding releases previously submitted to EPA under permit condition II.J (Emergency Response; Release Reporting) and II.D.10 (Interim Measures).
- d. For a discussion of the need for and feasibility of implementing interim measures immediately, see permit condition II.D.10 (Interim Measures).
- 2. Upon receipt of the notification of any newly-identified SWMU, the Regional Administrator will determine the need for corrective action at such SWMU. If corrective action is necessary to protect human health or the environment, the Regional Administrator will determine whether a RCRA Facility Investigation will be performed and the need for and scope of any Interim Measures or Site Screening.
- 3. Within sixty (60) days after receipt of the Regional Administrator's determination that a RCRA Facility Investigation is necessary, the Permittee shall submit a RCRA Facility Investigation Work Plan that meets the requirements of permit conditions II.D.1-8. The Regional Administrator's determination shall either specify the media and/or parameters to be investigated or shall require the Permittee to propose and justify the selection of media and/or parameters.
- 4. Within the time specified in the approved RCRA Facility Investigation Plan, the Permittee shall submit the RCRA Facility Investigation Report.
- 5. In lieu of a separate RCRA Facility Investigation, the Permittee may propose either to incorporate any newly-identified SWMU into an ongoing RCRA Facility Investigation or to submit a proposal for the performance of corrective measures at such newly-identified SWMU in accordance with the provisions of permit condition II.C. Any such proposal shall be submitted to the Regional

Administrator along with notification of the discovery of the SWMUs.

M. RECORDKEEPING

Solid waste management units:

Upon completion of closure of any SWMU, the Permittee shall maintain in the Facility operating record, documentation of the closure measures taken.

N. ACCESS FOR CORRECTIVE ACTION OVERSIGHT

EPA and its authorized representatives shall have access to the Facility at all reasonable times for the purpose of monitoring compliance with the provisions of this permit. The Permittee shall use its best efforts to obtain access to property beyond the boundaries of the Facility at which corrective action is required by this permit (see Section 3004(v) of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6924(v)); (1) for itself and any contractor of the Permittee for the purpose of taking corrective action required by this permit, and (2) for EPA and its authorized representatives for the purposes described in this paragraph.

Date Signed

Maria-Parisi Vickers, Associate Director
Office of RCRA Programs
Waste & Chemicals Management Division
EPA Region III